ILLINOIS STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION
IMPARTIAL DUE FROCESS HEARING

SARAH NANNINGA, }
Student, ;
v, )} Case No. 004498
YORKWOOD COMMUNITY UNIT SCHOOL DISTRICT 223, )}
School District ;
DECTSION AND ORDER

JANET E. KIDD, Impartial Due Process Hearing Officer

Preiiminary Information

The matter in thig due process hearing involves, among other things, whether the
student’s receipt of special education services in the past has sufficiently improved her
academic perfermance to the point where she no lenger qualifies for such services. The
undersigned Hearing Officer has jurisdiction to hear and decide this case under Section
103 of the Tlinois School Code, 103 TLCS 5/14-8.02a, The parties have been informed of
their rights concerning due process hearings under the [llinois School Code, the Code of
Federal Regulations (34 C.R.R. Sec. 300.509) and the Ilinois State Board of Education
Regulations concerning special educstion hearings (23 1lIl. Admin. Code Sec. 226,
subpart ().

Procedural History

This maticr comes before the undersigned Hearing Officer pursuant to a letter of
appointment by the Illinois State Board of Education dated November 15, 2005 (H.O. Ex.
2). The matetials accompanying the letter of appointment indicate that by letter dated
August 24, 2005 the pareni requested an impartial duc process hearing pursuant to the
Individuals with Disabilitics Education Improvement Act of 2004 (“IDEA™) {H.O. Ex. 1),
This request was a reinstaternent of a previous request for due process hearing made on
April 25, 2005. The materials also indicate that the Yorkwood Community Thnit School
District 225 (“School District” or “District™) received the August 24, 2005 request on
August 30, 2005 and forwarded it to the [linois 3tatc Board of Education (H.O. Ex. ).

The case originally was assigned to Hearing Officer Carolyn Ann Smaron on
September 6, 2005. The 45 day staiutory t'meline by which the case was ta have been
resolved would have expired on November 19, 20035, That timeline was extended by
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virtue of a “hold” placed on the applicable timelincs at the request of the parties by
Hearing Officer Smaron’s Order dated September 12, 2005 (8.D. Ex. 146). Hearing
Officer Smaron subsequently was replaced by Hearing Officer Linda Mastandrea, who
then was stricken at the request of one of the partics. The undersigned Hearing Officer
issued a Scheduling Order on May 8, 2006 which superceded the previously issued
Scheduling Order, and removed the “hoid” from the procedural timelines (5.D. Ex. 150).
The new Scheduling Order set forth the new 435 day deadline as July 20, 2006,

On May 11, 2006 the patent, through her lay advocatc Gary Michaels, submitted
an Amended Pue Process request (H.O. Ex. 3). The School District filed motions to
dismiss thie complaint on various grounds, which motions ware depied, The District filed
a rcsponse o the amended due process complaint on May 19, 2006. The parties filed a
Joint Motion for Continuance to extend the 45 day deadline from July 20, 2006 until
September 25, 2006, which was granted by Order of Continvance dated Juiy 20, 2006.
The pre-hearing conference was held via telephone conference call on June 9, 2006. A
supplemental pre-heating conference call was held on June 14, 2006, The Pre-Hearing
Conference Report (H.O, Ex. 6) was issved on July 24, 2006, with a Supplemental Pre-
Hearing Conference Report and Order issued on September &, 2006 (H.O. Ex. 7). The
hearing was held on September 11, 2006 through September 14, 20006 in Monmouth,
[linois, in full eampliance with the timelines established in scction 8.02a of the Illinois
School Code.

The parent is now represented by an attorney, Michael A. O’Connor of Mauk &
O’Connor LLP, 1427 W. Howard §i, Chicago, TL 60626. The School District is
represented by attorneys Neal E. Takiff and Laura A. Cleary of Whitted, Cleary & TakifT
LLC, 3000 Dundee Rd., Suite 303, Northbrook, IL 60062, The parent Doris Nanninga
was present at the hearing, along with School District Superintendent Jane Michael as
representative of the School District and Susan Crawford, Director of Special Edueation
as representative of the Knox-Warren Spcceial Education Cooperative which provides
scrvices to the School District. The hearing was not open to the public, pursuant to the
parcnt’s rcguest. At the hearing, exhibils H.O.1-7 were admitted into evidence, along
with P. Exs. 1-90 and Al-A32 and Bi-B131. Exhibii P 89 was withdrawn, School
District Exhibits 3.D. 1-175 were admitted, cxeept for 8.D. Exs. 151, 152, 157 and 159
which were re-identified and admitted ag Hearing Officer Exhibits.

Issues Presenied

1. Whether the student is eligible for special education services under IDEA, The
parent contends that Sarah, the student, is cligible under the designation of “other healih
impaired” and that her impairment is atiention deficithyperactivity disorder (“ADHD?).
Alternatively, the parent contends that Sarah is eligible under the “learning disabled”
{*LD™ designation. The School Disirict contends that although Sarah doey suffer from
ADHD, that disorder does not adversely impact her academic achicvement and,
accordingly, she does not qualify for special education services, Rather, the School
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District argues that Sarah can reccivc whatever supports or accommodations she might
need in her general education placement by virtue of a Section 504 plan. The District also
contends that the issue concerning Sarsh’s eligibility under a LD designation was not
previousiy raised by the parent and cau not be raised by the parent for the first time at the
Due Precess hearing, Alternatively, the School District contends thal Sarah does not
quality under the LD designation,

2. Whether the December 20, 2005 individualized education plan (“IEP") that the
School District developed for the student provides her with a free, appropriate public
education (“FAPE™). The parent contends that Sarah’s 1EP was not appropriaic, in view
of her demanstrated superior intellecinal ability, The District contends that the TEP was
appropriate to meet Sarah’s needs and that it, in fact, served to elevate Sarah’s academic
performance to the point where she no longer requires special cducation services.

3. Whether the TEP contains adequate provisions for measuring the student’s
progress. The parent contends that the TEP does not reflect the high expectations that the
District should have ltad for a student with a high intellect such as Sarah, but rather was
designed primarily to bring Sarah’s academic performance only up 1o grade level. The
parent contends that the achicvement of average academic skills in inadequate for a
highly intelligent gitl sueh as Satah. The School District contends that Saralv’s progress,
as appropriatcly measured by the IEP, reflects significant azcademic improvement
commensurate with her intellect.

4. Whether the TEP provides the student with FAPE in the least resirictive
envitonment. The parent contends thal Sarsh’s placement in the section of lher fourth
prade clasy which was not the “highest functioning™ level of academic achievement was
not the least restrictive environment for her. The parent contends that Sarsh should have
been placed in the highest academiec class of the fourth grade, with appropriate supports.
The Disirict contends that Sarah’s placement was better for her mdividual needs. Tt
contends that Sarah’s clasy was a general education class which covered cxactly the same
curriculum as the “higher functioning™ class.

5, Whether fhe student’s tcachers are adequately versed in the provisions of her
IEP and are properly irained in the educational requirements of her disability. The parent
contends that Sarah’s teachers arc not sulficiently well versed the intricacies of her
disorder and of her particular needs, as set forth in the IEP. The School District arpues
that Sarah’s teachers are fully qualified and irained in the area of ADHD, are
knowledgeable about Sarah’s needs and, in fact, have consistently met Sarah’s social and
academic needs over the years. The District contends that all of Sarah’s teachers have
significant years of teaching experience and/or experience in ihe gpecial education field
and that their education and experience levels have served Sarah well and will continue to
do 0 in the future.
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6. Whether the parent was permitled adequatc opportunity to observe the student
in her educational environment in order to evalunie the efficacy ol the child’s medication.
The parent contends that the Schoel District’s policy of permiiting parental observation
only when arranged in advance and then, only for onc academic period is insufficient to
propetly observe her daughter in the classroom, particularly when the parent wishes to
monitor the effect of Sarah’s varicus medications for ADHD, The School District
contends that its policy regarding school visitation is appropriatc in order to avoid any
possible disruptive effect that a prolonged or surprise visit might have on the child in
question, as well as on the other sindents,

7. Whether appropriste supplemental supports and services such as assistive
technology and extended school year education should have been included in the TEP and
provided to the sindent. The pareni contcnds that the TEP team did not consider
appropriate multi-sensory and structural suppotts for Sarah, nor did it consider extended
school year services. The School District contends that the IEP provides numerous
supports for Sarah and that her regular education clagsroom teachers and her Special
Education teacher utilize multi-sensory techniques and supports, The District farther
conitends that there is and was no evidence that Sarah experienced any acadernic
rcgression over the sutamet, and that exiended school year services were not appropriate
for her.

& Whether the implementation of the TEP forees the student 1o unfairly give up
other “regular” student aclivities such ns recess. The parcnt contends that Sarah was, at
least for a time, routinely asked to give up recess or art class in order to complete
homework assignments or, on occasion, as a punishment for failing to complete
assignments or for failing to finish cating her lunch. The School District contends that
although Sarah, like other students, was occasionally kept in from rceess in order to
complete assignments or as a punishment, upon receipt of notice from the parent that
Sarah was never to miss recess or ant ¢lassg, it fuily complied with the parent’s request.

An issue previously raised by tle parent and listed as issuc number six in the Pre-
Hearing Conference Report as “[w]hether the parent was provided with adequate training
to participale meaningfully in the development of the TEP* was waived by the atiorney
for the parent at the outset of the hearing,

Findings of Facl

I. Sarah Nanninga was born on August 11, 1996 (P. Ex. 1). She entered
kindergarten at age 5 and has always attended Yorkwood Elementary school, where she
presently is in fifih grade (P. Ex. 2; Tr. 8. Nanninga, dir.). Sarah iz an atiractive,
engaging, intelligent young girl with no aggressive tendencies (P. Ex. 6; Tr. 8. Nanninga,
dir.). Sarah’s mother noticed that Sarah was having trouble with leaming to rcad even
before she eniered grade school (Tr. D. Nanninga, dir.), Tewards the end of Sarah’s first
grade, school district officials informed Mrs. Nanninga that Saral: was having leaming
problems in School (Tr. I}. Nanninga, dir.; P, Ex. 69). The School District recommendad
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Sarah’s “retention”, or that shc repeat the first grade (P. Ex. 69). Mrs. Nanninga
disagreed with that recommendation and notified Principal MceKee on March 3, 2003 that
“rctention is not an option.” (P. Ex. 7). Mrs. Nanninga sirongly believed that repeating
first grade would be detrimental to Sarah and requested that Sarah be tested for a learning
disabilily (P. Ex. 7).

2. On March 27, 2003, towards the end of Sarah’s first grade ycar, Yorkwood
Elementary School Psychologist Pam Morris requested that Mrs. Nanninga attend a
mieeting with Sarah’s “early intervention team” to discuss Sarah’s academic situation (Tr.
1. Nanninga, dir.; P, Ex. 8). A subseguent “domain meeting® was held iz the fall of 2003,
ag Sarah was cniering second grade to determine Sarali’s precise academic needs (P. Ex.
79). Sarah started second grade without special education services (Tr. D. Natininga,
dir.). A “social developmental study™ was preparcd for Sarah by School Social Worker
Michelle Elliott as part of Sarah’s initial evaluation by the School District (P. Bx. 2). The
study recommended that the carly intervention team shonid particnlarly address Sarah’s
reading comprehension and math ealculation skills (P. Ex. 2). In December 2003 (Saral’
second grade) School Psychelogist Pam Morris evaluated Satah aud prepared a report
(hereinafier the “Momris Report™} of her findings (P. Ex. 3). The Morris Report utilized
various testing methods to cvaluate Sarah including the Weschler Intelligence Scale,
fourth edition (*WISC-IV"), the Woodcock Johnson Tests of Achievement-TT and the
(igtes MaeGinitic Reading Tests (P. Ex. 3, p.2). Based on those tagt results, the Morris
Report concludes that Sarah “is cxperiencing a significant and meaningful discrepaney
between intellectual ability and achievement in the areas of basic reading, reading
vocabulary and reading comprchension.” (P. Ex. 3, p.2). The Mormis Report makes
various recommendationy with respect to Sarah’s academic program, noting that a
“structurcd language™ program, administered with a “muliisensory™ approach would be
best for Sarah (P. Ex. 3). The Morris Report also notes that Sarah will need a
combination of learning and behavioral strategies to assure her academic success (P. Ex.

3.

3. Upon revicwing the Morris Repori, the Sarah’s carly intervention team
{composed of her teachers, school psychologist, school social worker, special education
teacher and others) determined, by virtue of a2 “domain meeting” that Sargh should be
considered to qualify for special education services under the category of a “learning
disability”™ (P, Ex. 79). Under the December 9, 2003 Individual Educalion Plan
{ltereinafter 12-09-03 IEP™) that was initially developed for Sarah, she was to be given a
minimum of 20 minutes a day of special education in reading instruction in the “resource
room” (P, Ex. 79-8). Such special education is sometimes known as “resource time.” (P.
Ex. 79). The TEI® for Satal is based the Mortis Report, classroom observation and testing
data and is used to formulate a “response to intervention” medel. (P. Ex. 79, Tr
Crawford, dir.} Other supports were developed for Sarah and listed in the 12-09-03 IEP
including, among other things, extended time for tests, having her tests read alond,
having her seated near the teacher in the front of the room away from the windows, using
a visual teaching approach and penerzlly making her teachers aware that she may need
individual attention to be kept “on task™ throughout the schaol day. The special education
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services sei forth in the 12-09-03 IEP were to begin in January 2004 (P, Ex. 79-8). The
12-09-03 IEP seis cut a long-range goal in reading and a short-term ohjective in reading
with specific incrcascs in reading fluency to be messured by “curriculum based
measurement (“CBM™) (P. Bx. 79-10). No math goals were established for Sarah (P. Ex.
79-10). Sarah was dctermined not to have any need for extended school year services
(Ex. 79-8). Mrs. Nanninga attended all of the JEP team meetings, provided input to the
team and fully participated in team decisions (P. Exs. 81-86),

4. On March B, 2004 Sarah's Individual Education Team met to review Sarah’s
progress (P. Ex. 80). The IEP conference summary report (hereinafter 3-08-04 IEP)
indieatey that Sarah would continte to receive resource time in reading for 100 minutes a
week, along with other supports in her regular classroom such as more visual aids like
vocabulary cards and use of highlighted text books in science and social sindies (P, Ex.
B0-6). Her eligibility for special cducation was still considered as “learning disability.”
(P. Ex. 80-7).

3. On May 13, 2004 another TEP meeting was held to review Sarah’s progress and
to devise a plan for her third grade academic year (P, Ex. 81). The May 13, 2004 TEP
conference summary report (hersinafter “5-13-04 TEP” was prepared as a result of that
meetitgs (P. Ex. 81). The 5-13-04 TEP lists Sarah's cligibility for special education
services as being primarily that of a “learning disability” and secondarily, as “otlier health
impaired” (“OMT”) with a spccific impairment listed as ADHD P. Ex. 81-4). The 5-13-04
IEF notcs that Sarah was “formally diagnosed with ADHD in spring 2003" (P, Ex. 81-2).
The 5-13-04 IEP also notes thal “parent requests that Sarah be sent cut for recess vs,
siaying in to finish work. Any unfinished work is to be sent home™ (P. Ex. 81-3). The 5-
13-04 TEP was appended as an attachment to Sarah’s 3-08-04 IEP (P. Ex. 81-1).

6. On August 23, 2004 another TEP meeting was held to review Sarah’s propress
(P. Ex. 80-6). The TEP team concluded that Sarah could benefil from additional time in
the resource room with Special Education teecher Becky Carlson (Tr. Carlson, dir.).
Acrordingly, the 3-08-64 TEP report was amended to show that in third grade Sarah
would receive 60 minutes per day or 300 minutes per weck of special edueation services
in reading in the resources from August 23, 2004 at {east until March 8, 2003, the date of
her next TEP team meeting (P. Ex. 80-6).

7. On Nevember 9, 2004, Mrs. Nanninga participated in what she believed to be a
pareni-tcacher conference, but what the district considered to be an IEP team meeting
(Tr. D. Namninga, dir.; P, Ex. 82-1). Mrs. Nanninga was asked to waive the requircment
of prior notice of an IEP meeting, and refused to do so (Tr. D. Nanninga, dir.) At the
November 9, 2004 meeting, the IEP team determined that Sarah’s speeial education time
in the resource room with Mrs. Carlson should be reduced to 15 minutes per day or 75
minutes per week, with 43 minutes per day of reading instruction in the regular classroom
{P. Ex. 82-], 82-3). The rcport from the Novemher 9, 2004 mecting (hereinafter “11-09-
04 TEP™) notes that Sarah was already exceeding her previous IEP goals and was “doing a
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wonderful job with regular third grade work,” (P. Ex. 82-3). Mrs., Nanninga signed the
11-09-04 IEP along with other members of the teatn (P, Ex. 82-4).

8. On January 14, 2005 another IEP tcam meeting was held to cvaluate Sarah’s
progress (P, Iix. 83-2). The accommodations listed in the previous TEP’s were still in
effect, including the 15 minutes of daily reading special education instruciion in the
resource room. (P, Ex. 83-3). The report from the January 14, 2005 meeting (“1-14-05
TEP™) notcs that Sarah’s readirrhg grades are in the “B- to B+" Jevel and that she ig
achieving “above aim line in 3™ grade level probes using general curriculum materials
[witl] comprehension 80% - 100%." (P. Ex. 83-3). During third grade, Sarah was
receiving math instruction under the Title I math program at Yorkwood (P, Ex. 82-3). It
was reported that Sarah’s math skills were “well within the average range.” (P. Ex. 83-3).
The Title I math program is a fedcrally-financed program of small group math instruction
which provides instruction at a slower pace (Tr. Taol, dir.). The text book and curricnlum
are identical to that used for math instruction in the regular education classroom and the
Title I math sindents acquire the same information as do those in the general education
class by the end of the school year (Tr, Toal, dir.). The 1-14-05 TEP report notes that the
regularly scheduled “TEP day”™ for Sarah would take piace on Febmary 22, 2005 and that
at that time her progress would again be examined and a new IEP would be prepared on
that day (P. Ex. 83-3).

3. On February 16, 2005 another [EP meeting was held to review Sarah’s progress
{P. Ex. 84). At that time, Mrs, Nanninga requcsted an independent evaluation of Sarah
and signed a parental conscnt form for the sehiool disirict to collect addiifonal evaluation
data (P. Ex. 84). The independent evaluation was to be considered at a future meeting
scheduled for April 25, 2003 (P. Ex. 84-3).

16. Prior to this time on January 28, 2005 Mrs. Nanninga had taken Sarah for an
evaluation by the University of lowa Center for Disability and Development (“CDD™)
{P. Ex. 4). The CDD provides diagnostic evaluations of people with disabilities primarily
as an advisory tool for parents or carcgivers (Tr. Bmith, cross), The CDD evaluation
concluded, after a battery of tests, {hat Sarah was a “uniquc leamcr” of unusually high
intelligence, whe suffered from ADHD and dyslexia and recommendations for those
conditiong (P. Ex. 4). Dr. Angela Smith, the primary author of the CDD rcport, testified
ihat the term “dyslexia” was used in the report fo indicate a reading or language disorder,
rather than a more narrow definition of dyslexia, (Tr. Smith, dir.). The CDD did not have
the benefil of input or information from the School District when it prepared its
evaluation, other than some correspondence with the District provided by Mrs. Nanninga
{Tr. Smith, cross).

11. On April 25, 2005, the IEP 1eam met to consider the independent evaiuation
prepared by MCA Diapnostic Services psychologist Debra Dietrich (hereinafter “Dietrich
Report™) {8. D. Ex. 20; S. D. Ex. 14), The IEP leam also considered a re-evaluation
prepared by school psychologist Pam Morris on April 5, 2005 which examined Sarah’s
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math progress using curriculum based math fluency measures. (P, Ex, 85-5). At the April
23, 2005 meeting the team concluded that Sarah no longer qualified for special education
services, but that she should contimue to receive accommodations in the reguiar
¢lasgroom through a Section 504 Individual Accommodation Plan pursusnt to the
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA™) (P, Ex. 85-1). The IEP team
considered the CDD report which Mrs. Nanninga provided at the meeting ¢S. D. Ex. 14,
S. D. document page 90). Mrs. Nanninga objected to the proposed discontinuation of
special education services and stated her view that Sarali should coniinue to gualify for
special education services (P. Ex. 85-1), Mrs, Nanninga filed her original request for Due
Process hearing on April 25, 2005.

12. In conjunction with the Request for Due Process, as part of & mediated
sattlement, an additional impertial educational cvaluation was obtained for consideration
by the School District (8. D. Ex. 21). The report was prepared by certified Schaol
Psychologist Linda L. Meloy, Ph.D., on October 12, 2005. Special Education Dircctor
Susan Crawford had eontacted Dr. Meloy and had put her in touch with Mrs. Nanninga
(Ir., Meloy, dir.). Ms. Crawford did not provide Mrs. Nanninga with a list of independent
evaluators, as is sometimes done (Tr. Crawford, dir.). Mrs. Nanninga accepled Dr. Meloy
a3 the independent cvaluator and met with Dr. Meloy priot to the cvaluation {Tr. Meloy,
dit.}, Dt. Meloy concluded that Sarah does suffer from “moderate to severe” ADHD
which she notes is “a developmenial disorder with substantial and chronic impairment
across settings for which multipic interventions are needed” (S. D). Ex. 21, p.11). Dr.
Meloy testified at the hearing that Sarah is “very bright” and that while testing indicates a
discrepancy between her ability and her achievement, she reiterated the conelusion in her
rcport that it does not support a diagnosis of “lcarning disabled” (8. D. Ex. 21, p.i10; Tr.
Meloy, dir.). The Meloy report does note that ADHD supports would require the
“direction/coaching of a teacher, noi self=monitoring approaches listed on the proposcd
504 Plan.” (S.D. Ex. 21, p. 10). Dr. Meloy iestified at the hearing that while Sarah
defmitely nceds instructional supports to assure hier academic success, it docs not malter
whether the supports are provided under an [EP or under a § 504 plan as long as Sarah is
able 1o receive adequate coaching from a teacher (Tr. Meloy, cross).

13. The TEP team met aggin on December 20, 2005 o consider the Meloy report
aud revisit the issue of Sarah’s status witlh respect to special education and
accommodations (P. Ex. 86). The report wrillen at the December 20, 2005 mesting
(hereinafter *“12-20-05 [EP™) statcs that while the IEP team agrees that Sarah has the
disability known as “other health impaired” ADIID, she suffers no adverse effects from
that disability and is “performing at grade level curricutum for all instructional areas™ P,
Ex. 86-4; 86-6}. The tcam, however, in an effort to accommodate Mrs, Nanninga, agreed
to find 3arah eligible for special education accommodations particularly with respeet to
organization, use of the planner designed by Mrs. Natininga and by providing an extra set
of text books for home use (P. Ex. 86-7), Mrs, Nanninga and her representative Ann
Mariz Robinson participated in the drafting of the 12-20-05 TEP for Sarah, particularly in
the area of listing accommodations. (Tr. Crawford, dir.) Ultimately, Mrs. Nanninga
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hecame dissatisfied with this TEP and reinstated her request for Due Process (H. O. Ex.
1). Sarah completed the fourth grade and is presently in the fifth grade while reeciving
special education scrvices under the Januvary 2005 IEP by which she is receiving 15
minutes of reading instruction in the resource room, pursuant to the “stay-put" provisions
of IDEA as ordered by Flearing Officer Carolyn Smaron (3. D. Ex. 146},

14. Sarah’s fourth grade classroom was divided into three learning groups for
several subjects including reading and math, an advanced class, a morc average class, and
the class for sindents nceding “pull-out™ for substantial special education scrvices
pursuant to their TEP’s (Tr. Williama, dir.). Bascd upon her third grade performance and
varioug test scores, Sarah’y teachers placed her in the average class of her fourth grade.
(Tr. Williams, dir.} Although Sarah’s teachers belicved that she may have been
successfiul in the advanced or “higher functioning” class, Sarah was placed in the
“average” fourth grade class in order to give her the opportunity to receive her special
education accommodations, while allowing her to thrive academically (Tr, Williams,
dir.). At the present time, Sarah is in the advanced “reading circle” group of her ffth
grade. (Tr, Williams, dir.)

15, As part of Sarah’s IEP team’s efforts to measure Sarah’s progress, she was
given short tasty known ag “probes™ to measute her progress in the areas reading and
math (P. Ex. 82-3, 85-5; 8. D). Bx. 14). These tests, along with other curriculum-hased
measurements (“CBM’s™) were routinely given to Sarah by her leachers in both reading
and math (P. Ex. 3-8). On one summary of reading probes from second grade through
third grade, a graph was used to chart Sarah’s progress (S. D. Ex. 14, 5. D. document p,
95). The graph indicates from Sarah’s rcading probes starting in late November of her
third grade year and through the remainder of third grade that Sarah’s rate of pragress
was substantially higher than the progress that Sarah she had previously been making (8.
D. Ex. 14, 8. D. documeni p. 93). Sarah aiso took other standardized tests such as the
Illinois Standards Achievement Test (“ISAT™), the Prairie Stale Achievement Exam and
the Metiopolitan Achievement Test which were taken by all of the students in her class
(P. Ex. 79-6). Standardized tests such as the ISAT are categorized ag “norm-referenced”
tests because the scores show Sarah’s progress as a percentile, measured against the
scores of other state-wide student test scores (Tr. McLoy, dir}. Sareh has al3e been {ested
numerous times in connection with the independent cducational evaluations (“[EE*’s)
that have been performed for Sarah (8. D. Ex. 21, pp. 1-3). Although Sarah was not
present or able to take the math portion of the ISAT in third grade, she did take the
reading portion and scored in the “mmeets standards™ performance level (P, Ex. 88-3).

16. In addition to the efforts being made hy the School BDistrict to zddress her
learning issues, Sarah’s mother Doris Nanninga was also making every cffort to address
Sarah’s needs (P. Ex. 54-1; Tr, D, Nanninga, dir.). In September 2003, Sarah’s mother
had Sarah evaluated at the Galesburg Clinic in Galesburg, Illinois by a psychologist
named Dr. Phil Ulm (P, Ex. 54}, Dr. Ulin performed an ADHD assessment on Sarah and
came to the conclusion that Sarah does have attention deficithyperactivity disorder (P,
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Ex. 1; P. Ex. 54}. Doctor Ulm pave Sarah’s mother various behavioral stratepies for
working with Sarah ai home. Sarah’s primary physician is Lynn Greeley, M.D., a
pediatrician who also practices at the Galesburg clinic. Dr. Greeley agrees with Dr. Ulm’'s
assessment that Sarah has ADHD (Tr. Greeley, dir). Sarah has no persistent medical
issucs other than the ADHD. (P, Ex. 54; Tr. Greeley, dir.} In an effort to alleviate Saral’s
AHD symploms, Dr. Grecley preseribed various psychotropie drugs (P, Ex. 39-1; P. Ex.
55). Some of the medications have proven to be successful, but Dr. Greeley has had to
make changes in medications or dosages when Sarah began to exhibit “Breakthrough
symptoms™ (Tr. Greeley, dir.). Some of the medications also canse unwanted side effects
in Sarah, in particular, a loss in appetite (Tr. Greeley, dir.; P. Ex. 55). The loss of appetite
hag resulted in Barah's fallure to gain weight at an appropriate rate for her height and age
(Tr. Greeley, dir.). Sarah’s mother gives Sarah her medications at home, not at school
(Tr. Crawford, cross). Occasionally, at times such as during summer vacation from
school, Sarah’s mother stops giving Sarah all medications in order to evaluate Sarah’s
symptoms without the drugs and also to allow Sarah’s appetite to recover (Tr. D,
Nanninga, dir.).

17, Sarah’s mother visited her fourth grade class on April 6, 2006 (S.D. Ex. 111).
She wished te observe Sarah’s behavior in the classroom and, in particuiar, to evaluate
the effectiveness of Sarah’s current medication (Tr. D. Nanninga, dir.). Mrs. Nanninga
did not notify the schaol of her planned vigit or reccive permission for the visit ahead of
time, cven though she had been speaking to School District officials the pravious day
(8.D. Ex. 111). Sarah’s mother sat in on Sarab’s classes throughout the entire school day
(8.D. Ex. 111). The day did not go smeothly for Sarah, as evidenced by a bathroom-
rciated “accident™ during her Physical Education class (Tr. D. Nanninga, dir.}. School
Superiniendent Jane Michae] notified Mrs. Nanninga by letter dated April 10, 2006 that
school policy required prior notice for parental visits, explanation of the purpose for the
visit, and limiting the visit to onte or two clags periods (8.1, Ex. 111}. The school policy
regarding visitors as set forth in the Yorkwood Elemeniary School! Stadent Handbook
also requests that parents inform the individual teacher of the planned visit and to “limit
your visit to either one class period ot abant 30 minutes,” {5.D. Ex. 111). The Yorkwood
Student Handbook noles that “some children are easily distracted and do not learn well
with visitors in the classtoom.” (8.D. Ex. 111). Mrs. Nanninga objected to the limitations
on her ability to observe Sarah in the classroom and informed the Superintendent that
intended to return for additional visits (3.1, Ex. 112). She, in fact, never returned for any
additional clagsroom observations (1. D. Nanninga, cross).

18. Mrs. Nanninga was concerned about Sarah’s need for physical activity and
frequent breaks in order to help alleviate her ADHD symptoms (Tr. D. Nanninga, dir.).
Sarah’s teachers at Yorkwood occasionally kept children in from recess to finish
incomplete assipnments or to receive extra help with instruction. (Tr. Williams, dir.) On
infrequent occasions, teachers kept children in from recess as a punishment for
behavioral issues (Tr. Williams, dir.). Mrs, Nanninga asked Principal McKee that Sarah
not he kept in from recess and also requested Dr. Greeley to send a Jetter to Yorkwood
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making the samc request (Tr. D. Nanninga, dir., P. Ex. 55). Dr. Greeley informed
Snperintendent Michael by letter dated November 19, 2005 that Sarah needed breaks for
physical activity to alleviate her ADHD symptems (S.C. Ex. 35). The ictter from Dr,
Greeley was discussed at the December 2005 TEP meeting (T1. Crawford, dir.). The 12-
20-05 IEP report does not contain any modifications concerning recess or exercise (P. Bx.
86). Sarah’s schedule contains times for physical activity, including at least two recess
perieds, in addition to her physical education elass (S.D. Ex. 136). Upon receipi of the
request from Mrs. Nanninga and the letier from Doctor Greeley, Sarah was not kept in
from recess by her teachers for any reason {Tr. Williams, dir.),

19. In connection with the present Due Process proceeding, Mrs. Nanninga
obtained the services of another independent evaluator, licensed clinical psychologist
Elizabeth Zavadny, Psy, D., who conducted a review of the evaluations that have been
performed for Sarah to date (P. Ex. 17). Dr. Zavodny testified, based on her “record
review” that she believed that none of the previous evaluations were complete and that
she was of the opinion that Saral may suffer from an additional leaming disability other
than ADHD (Tr. Zavodny, dir.). She further testified that the eriticism of the CDD
evaluation set forth in Dr. Meloy’s report was unfounded, and that Dr. Zavodny believed
thai D, Meloy’s testing was inadequate 1o assess Sarah’s needs (Tr. Zavodny, dir.).

20. Other findings of facts which also constitute, in part, conclustons of law arc
get forth below and incorporated herein by reference.

Conclugions of Law

Based upen the above Findings of Fact and the arguments of counsel, as weli as
this Hearing Officer’s rescarch, the conelusions of law are as follows:

1. There is no meaningful dispute as to the fact that Sarah suffers from the range
of symptoms commonly known as attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (“ADHD™). To
qualify for special education services under the Individuais with Disabilities
Improvement Act of 2004 {(“IDEA™), a sindent must meet the “other health impairment”
definition found in the IDEA and demonsirate thai the impairment adversely affacts
academic performance, or be found to suffer from a specific learning disability. Because
Sarah’s ADHD has not been shown to have an adverse impact on her educational
performance, she does not quality for spccial education services as “OHI” or “other
health impaired”. “Not every child who has a disability needs special education services

as a resuft of that disability.” Beth Corchado v. Bd. Of Education, Rochester City School
District, 86 F. Supp. 3d 168 {W.D. NY 2000).

2. Similarly, there is no dispute as to the fact that Sarah posscsses a superior
intellect, While her inicllect should be considered in determining if her academic
performance is on par with her abilities, it is not the intcat of IDEA to maximize the
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performance of inteliectially gifited students. Further, any disparity between her
petfotmance ahd her ability is not so scvere as to warrant a designation as “learning
digabled” or “LD". Sarah may have qualified as leaming disabiled at one {ime, or
qualified as OHI at one time dve to her ADHD. The special cducation instruction time
that she has received in the resource room from first grade through {ifih grade has served
its function; that is, fo improve the child’s educational progress to the point where
instruction in the gencral classroom is adequate and preferred. Sarali’s academic
performance in the categories of reading and math, both areas of concern for her parent
and her teachcrs at various times, is now at or above grade level, No further special
cducation in an environment sepatate from her peers is required or desirable. In Krista D,
¥. Mauhattan School Disirict, 255 F. Supp. 2d 873 (N.D. T11. 2003), the court considered
the case of a child with superior intellectual ability but achicvement testing in the low-
average o average range, The court held that the school district was correct in denying
eligibility for special education services beocause she was receciving appropriate
accommoedations, her grades were at least average, and she was progressing adequatcly in
the general edncation curriculum. In the instant case, Sarah is making similar or better
progress and, according to the Special Education resource teacher, the district was having
diffienlty devising academic poals for Sarab at her last IEP conference becavse she had
met all previous goals and is now performing at or above grade level in all areas.

The School Distriet argued at the hearing that the parent was barred from raising
the LD issue during the hearing, ag it had not been adequately raised in prior pleadings.
Counsel for ihe parent responded that issue number one in the Pre-hearing Conference
Report, restating the issues set forth in the amended Duc Process Request, concerning
Sarah’s eligibility for Special Education services adequately raised the issne. It appears
that the School District has not been unfaitly surprised by the LD eligibility issue, and
there 15 adequate testimony and documentary cvidence in the record to address the issuc.
The parent, howewver, has not demonstrated that Sarah quaiifies under the LD cligibility
designation. This conclusion is based primarily upon the Meloy and Dietrich reports,
which were thorough, informative, based on scientific methods, and independent,

3. If Sareh had qualified under IDEA under either OHI or LD categories, she
automatically would have been entitled (o special education services. Failing to qualily
for special education services, however, does not leave Sarah without supports. Because
ghe does have the ADHD disability, the Disirict is correct in determining that Sarah
qualifies for services under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.5.C. § 794, and
not under IDEA, Sarah’s counsel has cited Yankton Schoo! District v. Harold and Angie
Schramm, 93 F.2d 1369 {1966) as support for the proposition that Sarah is entitled to
continucd spccial cducation services. ¥ankton invoives a stmdent with an orthopedic
impairment and cerabral palsy who was seeking specialized instruetion and setvices
particularly in regards fo transition from high school to college. The school district was
attempling to dismiss the siudent from special education and provide services only under
& 504 of the Rehabilitation Aet, in view of the fact that the student received excellent
grades and primarily required assistive services such as transportation. The court in
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Yankton ordered the district to continue to provide special education services, finding
that the student’s disability fell squarely within the purview of IDEA. The coutt found
that the student did require classroom supports to alleviste the elfects of the disability on
classroom performance.

By contrast, Sarah’s previous special education services provided in the resource
room have had the desired effect of hringing Sarah’s reading skills up to the level of her
peers. She no longer needs the direct speecial education services the way that the student
in Yankiton condinued to require services. Further, the Yorkwood School Disirict is
willing and able to provide Sarah with the non-speeial education supports she is entitled
to under § 504, In evaluating JEP services againsl § 504 services, the court in Yankion
specifically notcs that a “school district is not free to choose which statute it prafers™ (93
F. 2d 1369) hut that is not what the School District is doing in this case. The Yorkwood
School District has, relying on scientifically based intervention and measurement
techniques, moved Sarah out of the realm of gpecial education and back into the gencral
edncation classroom. This is not only in accordance with the leiter of IDEA, but with its
spirit as weill.

4. Sarall’s previcus FEP’s and, in particular, her 12-20-05 TEP were adequate to
meet her educational needs at the time. Sarah's counsel contends that the 12-20-05 TEP
was inadcgquate with respect to goals, supports and progress measurements for Sarah,
pariicularly in view of her high intellect. This Is in contrast with the clear weight of the
evidence. Even a cursory review of the facis in this case shows that Sarah has been tested,
measured and “probed” on perhaps all too many occasions. The School Dhstrict las
accumulated reams of its own data on Sarah, and has engaged the services of no less than
two outside educational evaluaiors who performed their own tests of Sarah. This s in
addition to the testing that Sarah®s mother arranged af her own cxpense. The IEP?s,
particularly the 12-20-05 IEP rely on the test data in reaching conclusions, The goals of
the 12-20-05 TEP were drafted at the behest of Mrs, Nanninga and her representative, so
it is difficult to see how she can now fault them. The previons IEP's for Sarah contained
specific poals and measurements which were drafted in terms of number of words she
could read aloud per minute with a minimum percent of mistakes. This type of goal js
specific, measurable and appropriate.

With respect to Sarah’s high intellectual ability, it iz difficult to gauge exacily
what level of academic achicvement she iz capable of, The IEP, however, is not required
to attempt to raise Sarah to the full level of her pogsible academic poteniial. The IDEA
agsurey children with disabilities of their right to a “free, appropriate public cducation
{(“FAPE™...” 20 U.8.C. § 1400 (c). In providing FAPE, the school distriet is required to
create an individualized aducation program that iy “reasonably calenlated to enable the
child to receive educational benefits.” Bd. Of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Cen.,
Schl., Dist., Wesichester County v. Rowley, 458 1.8, 176, 206 {1982). The Rowley case
has since been cited extensively for the proposition that the “purpose of the [DEA is to
‘open the door of public education’ to handicapped children, not to educaie a
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handicapped child to her highest potential.” Id. (quoting, Board of Educ. of urphysboro

Community Unit Schl. Dist. No. 186 v. Illinois State Bd. OF Edue,, 41 T. 3d 1162, 1166
{77 Cir. 1994). As the Court noted in Rowley, the requirements of the IDEA to provide

specialized educational services “generates no additional requirement that the services so
provided be sufficient to maximize each child’s potential “commensurate with
opporiunity provided other children.*” Id, at 198.

The School Districl in the instant case hag certainly attempted to comply with the
Rowley mandate that IEP’s must he “reasonably calcuiated to enable the child to receive
educational benefits,” 458 1.8. 176, 206, While there is no “bright-line” test for what
satisfies FAPE for any particular child, the needy of the individual child are paramount.
Couris have held that IDEA requires more than mere “minimal benefits”, and have
required that any analysis of FAPE requircs analysis of the child’s intellectual potential
and an assessment of academic progress. In Kcovin T., W.T,, and K.T. v. Eimhurst
Community School Dist, 205 and Illinois State Bd. Of Education, 2002 1,8, Dist LEXIS
4645 {2002), the court held that a student of above-average intelligence was denied FAPE
when e had made little academic progress and, in faet, his 1Q scorc had dropped by
almost 20 points over mine years. Thig is in sharp contrast to Sarah’s acadcmic
achievements. Although Sarah’s mother may wish io see her eaming mere than the B or
B+ she currently earny in many area on tests and grade reports, her progress to that level
from her past below-grade level performance is, as many of Sarah’s terchers testified at
the hearing, remarkable. This is not just a case of finding FAPE because of Sarah’s bcing
“passed from grade to grade™.

5. Sarah’s placement in the “average” or “middle-funetioning™ fourth grade class
was not a denial of FAPE in the least restrictive environment (“LRE™). IDEA and its
associaled regulations requiring fthat FAPE be provided in the least restrictive
environment were adopted and approved in the Illinois State Board of Educalion
(“ISBE") Policy Statement on Leéast Restrictive Environment issued in February 2000.
LRE requires, to the maximum exient possible, that children with disabilities are
educated with children who are not disabled. 34 C.F.R. §300.550(h)(1). The requirement
that FAPE be provided in the leasl restrictive environment generally presupposes that a
disabled child will obiain substantial social benefit from being educated with his er her
peers. Mrs, Williams, Sarah’s fourth grade teacher, testified persuasively that when she
and Mrs. Erlandson, the other fourth grade teacher, made the decision to place Sarah in
the more “average™ group of fourth praders for reading, spelling and math, the placement
was meant to allow them to provide Sarah with additional personal attention for her,
while aliowing her to “shine™ in a group of her peers, rather than struggling with a more
difficult “higher-functioning” curriculum. Although Sarali’s group was sometimes
referred to as “lower fanctioning™ during the hearing, the eurriculum ig the same ag that
in the “higher-functioning” or more accelerated group. As is true for special education
placements, as is deseribed in the ISBE Policy Statement on LRE, placement decisions
reflect a continnum of choices for the child, Sarah’s tcachers have used their best
Judgment in placing her within the middle range of her regular education class and it is
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not in Sarah’s best intcrest to force them to do otherwise, As Sarah’s neads change, the
York elementary teachers have responded and will continue to respond, as cvidencad by
their placing Sarah in the highest “reading circle” group for fifth grade. Accordingly,
there is no credible evidence to the effect that Sarah has been denjed FAPE in the least
resirictive environment.

6. Sarah’s regular education and speeial education teachers were adcquately
versed in the provisions of her IEP’s and were properly trained in the educational
requirements of her disability. Special Education resource teacher Becky Carlson testified
that she provided Sarah with multi-sensory reading instruction, and even Sarah's counsel
commented his approval of her approach. The 1egular education teachers, including Mrs.
Wiiliams, Ms. Erlandson and the Title 1 math teacher Mrs. Toal, have many years of
teaching experience and undisputed academic eredentials. All testified that they are
comfortable teaching children with ADFD. There was no evidence in the record of any
credible challenge to their teaching methods. Further, a review of the numerous IEP’s
showy that all of Sarah’s teachers attended the IEP meetings, and the fourth prade
teachers attended the IEP meeting at the end of Sarah’s third grade in order to better
prcpare themsyelves io mect Saral’s needs in the coming year. Special Education Director
Susan Crawiord became personally involved in Saral’s case once she became aware of
Mra. Nanninpga’s dissaiistaction with Sarah’s IEP. Mrs. Crawford has stellar credentials
in the field of special education, many years of teaching expericnee in the field, as well as
expetience in the area of special education administration, The credible testimony of
these Schoal District officials at the hearing combined with the records of the [EP
meetings, can Jead only to the conclusion that the tcachers and District officials were
remarkably well versed in the intricacies of Sarah’s IEP's and her ADHD disability.

7. The School District policy requiring prior notice and limiting parental
classtoom visits to one or two periods is adequate to allow Mrs, Nanninga to observe
Sarah. Althoungh Mrs. Namninga is a devoted and concerned parent, and Sarah's ADHD
gives her more reason for concern than the average parent of a non-disabled child, Mrs,
Nanninga can not be permitted to disrupt the cdveational enviranment for Sarah, her
teachers, and the rest of the school children, Although Mrs. Nanninga seems to feel that
she was being personally pemalized by having her visits limited by the School
Supetintendent, the school policy was clearly set forth in the Student Handboek prior to
Mrs. Nanninga’s visit. Mrs. Nanninga has adequate opportunity to observe Sarah’s
Icsponse to medical treatment at home, or during summer vacation. She may take
advantage of the scheol policy to observe Sarah for one or two periods with prior notice,
as permilted by school policy. But the needs of Sarah, her teachers and the other school
children to go about their school day undisturbed by the presence of visitors must
supersede the needs of parents to monitor their child’s behavior at school.

8. The IEP’s were adequaic in providing supplemental services for Sarah. The
assistive technology which the parent contends was not considered for Sarah was in fact
considered, and found not to be appropriate or uscful for her. The same is true with
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extended school year (“ESY™) services, Sarah did not demonstrate any of the summer
vacation academic repression which 15 indicalive of a need for ESY services. Resource
teacher Becky Carlson was thoroughly versed in the needs of ADHD children generaliy,
and with Sarah’s needs in particular. I was through her “resource minutes™, along with
the services and accommaodations provided by Sarah’s regular education teachers, that
allowed Sarah to progress to the point where she no longer requircs special cducation
services, Although it is entirely possible that some additional technology exists which
might boost Sarah’s academic performance even higher, the same could be said for
virtually any child. That does not require the Schoo! District to purchase or employ every
form of assistive technology which might be available.

8. Barah was not denicd FAPE or otherwize impeded by having been kept in from
recess or by missing art or other reguiar edvcation clagses. Sarsh apparently complained,
as any child wounld do, that shc missed recess or art on occasion in order 1o receive
additional time to complete an assignment or to receive personal instruction. It is unclear
wheiher Sarah was ever kept in from recess ag a punishment. Sarah’s mother and her
pediatrician Dr. Greeley instructed the school that Sarah was not to miss recess for any
regson. The testimony from Sarah’s teachers, along with the wrilten notes in the TEP’s,
was completely credible to the effect that onee everyvone had gotten the message from
Sarah’s doctor and mother, 8arah was never kept in from recess for any reason, Although
Sarah’s mother snggested that she was told that Sarah might have to miss art class in
order to have her planned § 504 accommodations, there was no additional evidence of
this in the record. Accordingly, the School District, in implementing Sarah’s IEP*s, did
not deny Sarah FAPE or otherwise unfairly impact Sarah’s need for physical activiiy in
order io alleviate her ADHD symptoms. It is hoped that the District would continue to
observe this laudable policy in implementing Sarah’s proposed § 504 Plan.

Decision and Order

Sarah Nanninga iz not eligible for special education servicas because her ADHD
does not adversely impact her academic achievement. Further, her ADHD does not
gualify her for special education scrvices as “learning disabled”, Although Sarah is a very
bright git] and may, in fact, be considered as academically pifted, any perceived
diserepancy between her high intellect and her penerally average school performance is
not sufficient, at her level of performance, to find her to be lcaming disabled. One of the
stated goals of TDEA is to move children away from special education classifications and
to allow them to function fully in the peneral education classroom with appropriate
supports, TDEA poals include “providing inceniives for whole-school approaches,
scientifieally based early reading programs, posilive behavioral interventions and
supporls...[to] reduce the need to labcl children as disabled in order to address
the...needs of such children.” 20 UL.S.C, 140G § 601. This is cxactly what has happened
in Sarah’s case, thanks to the support she rcecives al home as well as the expert
intcrvention of ithe School District special and peneral education teachers and
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administrators. FFuriher, the label that is placed on Sarah should not be determinative of
the suppotts she réceives. As at least onc mdependent cvaluator observed, the supports
that Sarah can and will receive in a § 504 Plan will address her ADHD issues as well as
they can be addressed by an IEP. The goal of the supports is to gradually move Sarah to
self-monitoring and self-control of her ADHD symptoms.

Accordingly, and for the reasons set forth above, based on the Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law it is hereby Ordered:

1. That Sarah Nanninga be placed in a repular education classroom for full-time
academic instruction;

2. That Sarah Nanninga be provided with supports and accommodationg purgnant
1o a Section 504 Plan;

3. That a new Scction 504 Plan meeting be convened at the earliest possiblc date
to evaluate Saral’s present academic performance and present and future educational
nceds.

Within five days of the receipt of this Decision and Order, cither party may
request a writlen clarification, The request for clarification must be specific as to
precisely which elements of the Decision and Order are the ones for which the moving
party seeks clarification. After the Decision is issned, the undergigned Hearing Officer
retains jurisdiction only for purposes of clarification. Any request for clarification must
also be mailed to the Elinois State Board of Education and the opposing party.

This Decision i3 hinding on the partics. The parties may appeal this decision
through a civil action in a judicial court of competent jurisdiction. The Illinois School
Code provides that appeals must be fHled within 120 days of the mailing of the de ision to
the parties (105 TLCS 5/14-8.02a(1)). If the appeal is not filed within that statutory
periad, the right to appeal iz loat,

Issned this 25th day of September 2006,

Cht & At

d ST E. KIDD
mpartial Due Process Hearing Officer
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